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INTRODUCTION

When | was growing up at the Charlotte Avenue con-
gregation in Nashville, it was impressed on me by elders
sending and missionaries being sent to East Tennessee that
East Tennessee was a great mission field which needed to be
evangelized. After having spent the past 37 years of my
preaching life more or less directly connected with East
Tennessee, even while in Africa keeping in touch by friends
and supporters, | can testify that it has grown into a strong
tower for the gospel. In fact, some of the finest churches
in Tennessee are to be found in this part of the State,
although churches are not as numerous as in West and
Middle Tennessee.

To my knowledge, there has never been published a
history of churches in this part of the State; therefore, |
am glad that John Waddey has taken the time and effort to
collect data from as many churches as possible to give us
this history.

John Waddey is a diligent student and fluent writer.
With the help of others who have given, at his request, the
information about churches in East Tennessee, it is fitting
that he should be the author of such a book. He has spent
most of his preaching life with one of the finest congrega-
tions in East Tennessee, the Karns Church of Knoxuville,
home of East Tennessee School of Preaching and Missions.
He has been, and still is, the spark to keep the school mov-
ing. It has been my pleasure to work with him under direc-
tion of the elders at Karns in connection with this school.
| believe he is giving us his best effort to acquaint all with
the progress of the churches in this part of the Volunteer

State.
Bill Nicks



AUTHOR’'S PREFACE

Since he was a boy, the author of this book has had
a great interest in history. Upon becoming a Christian, his
interest in history expanded to include the history of the
Lord’s Church, both ancient and modern. Over the years,
he has eagerly gathered and read all the available materials
relating to the history of the American Restoration move-
ment.

Some twelve years ago, the idea for a book on the
history of the Restoration movement in East Tennessee
was formed. Over the years, materials were gathered and
filed away. With the coming of Tennessee’s Homecoming
‘86 celebration, State coordinators urged religious groups
to publish histories of their churches within the State.
Fellow preachers in the Knoxville area lent their encour-
agement and work began in earnest. A year has passed, and
the author is pleased to present his work to the reading
public. More time was needed for refining and interpreting
the materials gathered, but other duties could not be
neglected for that purpose. It is hoped that the deficien-
cies will not detract in a serious way from the value of the
work.

It is the purpose of this volume to trace the develop-
ment of the Churches of Christ in East Tennessee from their
genesis at the beginning of the nineteenth century to the
present. The first half of the book is devoted to the history
of those congregations established prior to 1900. Along
with the congregational sketches are biographical sketches
of a number of gospel preachers of that century and miscel-
laneous chapters on the schools, programs, and problems
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of that era.

The second section of the book is devoted to what is
called the period of recovery. Having been virtually wiped
out in the doctrinal apostasy that resulted in the formation
of the Christian Church, Churches of Christ had a long,
difficult struggle to rebuild their cause in East Tennessee.
The bench marks of the Christian Church/Disciples of Christ
organization were instrumental music in the worship of the
church and the creation of a multitude of extra-Biblical
organizations to do the evangelistic work of the church.
This period of recovery covers the years from 1900-1950.
Strangely enough, it was World War |l that provided the
impetus to finally get the church back on the map in the
area. Government defense projects attracted thousands of
workers from other areas. Many of those who moved to the
region were members of the church. They brought their
faith and experience, their convictions, and their zeal with
them. Like seed in the wind, where they landed, congrega-
tions sprung up and began to flourish. They had contacts
in strong churches which they had left that provided the
financial assistance needed to launch the new works.

The third section surveys the present status of the
churches. It contains sketches of the existing congregations.
Each church in the region was invited to submit the factual
material of their group. The author then cast it in a uni-
form style. A few congregations did not respond although
numerous reminders were sent. Some had excellent and
full reports on their work; others had very little. This will
account for the variation in the length of the sketches.

The final section is an appendix which contains a
series of chapters devoted to the problems that adversely
affected us in the past. It is hoped that they will help the
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reader to more fully appreciate the causes that divided the
brotherhood and why our fathers took the stand they did.

This volume is sent forth with the prayer that modern
day Christians will read it, learn about, and appreciate those
noble saints who blazed the trail we now so easily tread.
Hopefully, we will learn from the mistakes of the past and
not repeat them. With God’s blessing, it can inspire us to
rekindle the fire that prompted Christians of old to work
with diligence and fight with courage to plant the cause of
Jesus in every community of this land. There is yet a vast
amount of work to be done before every soul in East
Tennessee has heard the call to go back to the Bible in all
things religious, before every community has a church in
its midst worshipping after the ancient order.

May we who are the Churches of Christ in East
Tennessee never forget who we are, our commitment to
go back to the Bible, our mission to preach the gospel to
every creature, and our duty to stand fast in the faith of
Jesus.

Vviii
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THE GENERAL STATE OF RELIGION
IN NINETEENTH CENTURY EAST TENNESSEE

As the eighteenth century drew to a close America
was in a deep spiritual depression. The national census of
1790 shows that no more than five percent of the popula-
tion claimed church membership. Those who traveled into
the Southwest Territory, later known as Tennessee, were
shocked by the moral and spiritual degeneracy of the in-
habitants. ‘“One Tennessee minister reported finding his
entire congregation so drunk they could not listen to him;
another told of repeated encounters with “‘refugees from
justice; gambling; horse racing; fighting and other ‘popular
sins’ . .."” Efforts to organize churches were hindered by
the scarcity of the scattered population in the vast regions
of mountains and valleys.

Many Tennesseans had absorbed the rationalistic;
anti-religious spirit of the age. Following the Revolution
the educated people of New England and the Seaboard
states were greatly influenced by the deism and skepticism
of the French Rationalists. Especially did an anti-clerical,
anti-established church mentality prevail since many of the
Anglican ministers had sympathized with the British. The
fallout of this antagonism was felt by other religious groups
as well. When the Tennessee Constitution was drafted in
1796, it specifically stated that, ‘’no minister of the gospel
or priest’’ could be elected to a seat in the state legislature.



The first preachers to serve in the state were Presby-
terians. Charles Cummings, a Presbyterian clergyman,
traveled down from Southwest Virginia to preach to his
brethren. Samuel Doak was the first Presbyterian to take
up residence in the state. This he did in 1777. Doak was
educated at Princeton and had taught at Hampden Sydney
College. He established Martin Academy - later to be
known as Washington College in Washington County. His
school has the distinction of being the first institute of edu-
cation in the territory. By 1796, Presbyterians could boast
of 27 congregations in the new state of Tennessee. Presby-
terians and their schools made a great impact on the edu-
cation and refinement of the mountain citizens.

Baptists also played a vital role in the religious history
of East Tennessee. The earliest Baptist churches in our state
were founded in 1765. Among the first permanent settlers
in what is now East Tennessee were Separate Baptists who
came from North Carolina. They had followed Shuble
Starnes, a Congregationalist minister south from New
England. When Starnes began to preach immersion to his
fellow Congregationalists who sprinkled, he and his follow-
ers were rejected and labeled Separate Baptists. Those
people’s hearts were very receptive to the Back-to-the-Bible
plea of Barton Stone and Alexander Campbell. Multitudes
of them later entered the Restoration Movement. Among
the most notable of their descendants to embrace the Re-
storation plea were the Mulkeys: John, John Newton,
Philip, and lsaac.

Tidence Lane, a Separate Baptist preacher led a con-
gregation of his people to migrate from North Carolina into
the Southwest Territory. They settled and built the Buf-
falo Ridge Church near Boone’s Creek in what is now
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Washington County, Tennessee. A later generation of these
people embraced the gospel and formed one of the earliest
New Testament churches in the State.

By 1786 the Holston Baptist Association was formed
with seven churches. The Baptists brought with them a
missionary zeal and a belief that preachers need not be
formally educated or located with one church. Most of
their early men were self-supporting and ministered to
numerous congregations by appointment. Baptists grew
rapidly in the wild mountain country.

Methodists also played a significant role in the reli-
gious life of East Tennessee. In 1783, the Holston Confer-
ence of Methodist churches had been established. Jeremiah
Lambert was the first circuit preacher in our region. In
1796 Methodists could claim only 550 members in the
state, but they made tremendous progress in the century
to follow.

James O’Kelly led a revolt against Bishop Francis
Asbury, tyrannical leader of the Methodists in America.
O’Kelly’s followers first were known as Republican Method-
ists, but later took the name Christian as their only desig-
nation and the Bible as their only guide. Located in North
Carolina, many of O’Kelly’s itinerant preachers traversed
the mountains of East Tennessee and laid a foundation for
preachers of the Stone and Campbell movement who had a
more distinctive restoration message.

At the turn of the Nineteenth Century, the society of
the entire region was shaken by the Great Revival of the
West. This religious upheaval was ignited by the powerful
preaching of James McGready, a Presbyterian. He had a
great influence on our own Barton W. Stone who heard
him preach while a student in North Carolina and later in
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Logan County, Kentucky. In 1799, McGready's preaching
turned the religious scene of Logan County upside down.
By 1800 revival fervor had swept into Tennessee. Method-
ists, Presbyterians and Baptists forgot sectarian differences
and enthusiastically worked to turn the hard hearts of their
neighbors to the Savior. The notable Cane Ridge Revival
in which B. W. Stone gained prominence and from which
came his move to go back to the Bible was a part of this
great revival of religion. In a way that defies our under-
standing thousands of hardened sinners eagerly embraced
the exciting religion of the revivals. Lukewarm church
members were revitalized. Our earliest preachers capital-
ized on this religious awakening and won thousands of
honest souls to the old paths of true Christianity. Such
revivals attracted immense crowds of worshippers. Atten-
dance of 5,000 was frequent. The Cane Ridge meeting
claimed 25,000 participants.

The white hot emotional excitement, the ignorant
ranting of some of the preachers, and the earthy, unedu-
cated people of the frontier brought forth a strange re-
action called ‘“‘acrobatic Christianity.”” A noted Method-
ist preacher wrote, ““I| spoke in Knoxville to hundreds
more than could get into the Courthouse, the Governor
being present. About one hundred and fifty appeared
to have jerking exercises . . .2

The Methodists took advantage of the camp meeting
opportunity and utilized it widely. By 1800 they could
claim 10,000 members in Tennessee which made them the
largest religious body in the state.

The Baptists soon rejected the camp meeting ap-
proach and turned to protracted meetings to spread their
views. Also, the growth of Baptists was disrupted by
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internal controversies that wracked them. During the dec-
ades of the 1820’s and 1830’s, an anti-missions controversy
was fought out. In 1833 the Tennessee Baptist convention
was organized by those who supported organized mission-
ary outreach. The West Tennessee Baptist Association
issued the following statement in 1840, ‘““‘we believe, from
experience, the Missionary, Bible, Temperance, Tract and
Masonic Societies, S(unday) S(chool) Unions and theo-
logical seminaries . . . are destructive to the peace and
fellowship of the Baptist church . . .””3 The careful student
will note that some of the same problems that plagued
that denominational body affected us as well. The period
between 1842-1874 has been called the ‘“darkest in Ten-
nessee Baptist history"4 because of destructive internal
fighting.

It was during this period of discord that our church-
es experienced a period of rapid growth often at the ex-
pense of the ““warring Baptists.”” Philip S. Fall was the first
prominent Baptist minister to embrace the Restoration plea
in Tennessee. He was pastor of the First Baptist Church in
Nashville in 1830. He led virtually his entire flock into the
Church of Christ. The loss to the Baptists is well illustrated
in the experience of the Concord Baptist Association. Of
49 congregations with a membership of 3,359, the associ-
ation was left with only eleven churches and 805 members.
Those who left had gone to the restored churches. This
scene was re-enacted all across the eastern half of the
nation. This will help the reader to understand why the
Baptists still harbor such hostility towards the Church of
Christ. When they could not adequately respond to the
doctrine of our early preachers they sought to protect
their members by poisoning them toward us and our
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message. We were labeled with such uncomplimentary titles
as Campbellites, waterdogs, and mudpuppies (allusions to

our insistance on immersion).
In East Tennessee, the Baptists were and are the

dominate group with whom our workers had to compete.
In 1790 they had 18 churches, 21 preachers, and 889 mem-
bers in Tennessee. By 1814 they listed 174 churches, 133
preachers, and 12,194 members. The year of 1845 they
numbered 32,159 members and by 1860, 46,564 members

Out of the Great Revival came the Cumberland
Presbyterian Church, established in 1825. This group soon
became the largest Presbyterian group in the state. The
Cumberland schism grew out of the revival methods of
preachers like James McGready, and their association with
other religious bodies. Finis Ewing led the way in forming
the General Assembly of the Cumberland Presbyterian
Church. They were highly evangelistic and adept at cap-
turing existing congregations of Presbyterians. By 1861
they counted 35,000 members in Tennessee. Our preach-
ers often clashed with theirs.

Catholics were scattered and few in the state. In
1830 their first parish was organized in Nashville. By 1858
they had only 11 churches in the state. Anti-Catholic
violence broke out in Knoxville in the 1850’'s with the
emergence of the ‘“Knowing-Nothing’’ political movement.

Jews were not numerous in nineteenth century Ten-
nessee. |In 1858 there were some 2,500 Hebrews in the
state with synagogues in Nashville and Memphis. The first
Jewish rabbi in Tennessee was Alexander Iser. By 1867
there was a synagogue in Knoxville.

In the early days of the century, most Methodist,
Presbyterian and Baptist churches were against slavery.
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Especially the Methodist and Baptist members who were of
the lower socio-economic class, were non-slaveholders. The
bitter political struggles of the period caused attitudes to
harden and most of the state’s churches fell in line with
sectional loyalties with most churches favoring the South
prior to the war. Division over the issue of slavery came to
most religious bodies. The Southern Baptist Convention
was formed in 1845. The state’s Baptist churches were
unanimous in supporting the new convention. The Method-
ist Episcopal Church South began the same year with all
the state’s Methodist Conferences uniting. The Protestant
Episcopal Church divided in 1861 and the Diocese of Ten-
nessee sided with the southern branch.

Christian Churches/Churches of Christ did not divide
at the time. When a separation occurred some 40 years
later it was, however, clearly along sectional lines.

East Tennessee remained loyal to the Union during
the war. Middle and West Tennessee were with the Con-
federacy. When division came, most Restoration Churches
in the Eastern part of the state went with the liberal ele-
ment. In the middle and western sections, they largely re-
mained loyal to the old paths, rejecting instrumental music
in worship and missionary societies.

Most of the slave population in Tennessee were mem-
bers of the various churches; usually the church of their
masters. By 1860 it is estimated that ninety percent of
Tennessee’s slaves were church members. Generally whites
and blacks worshipped together, although slaves were often
seated in the balcony. There were very few blacks in East
Tennessee, mainly because of the climate and terrain which
made it unprofitable to raise cotton and the money crops
that needed slave labor.



During the Civil War years church related activities
were severely hindered. Occupying armies often requisition-
ed meeting houses for hospitals. Hostile troops and mar-
auders made it dangerous to be away from home. Trans-
portation was disrupted as militaries confiscated horses and
wagons. The fever and excitement of war turned folks’
minds away from spiritual things. Animosities were especi-
ally bad in communities where loyalties were divided.
Often Rebel and Yankee disputes erupted in the churches.
Methodists and Baptists lost upwards of thirty percent of
their membership in that dreary five-year period. Some
members of the Lord’s church followed the advice of
Tolbert Fanning and David Lipscomb and sought to remain
neutral. Others joined the fray on their chosen side.

Following the war the state was occupied by Federal
troops. Men like ‘““Parson’” William Brownlow called for
retribution against the rebel churches. Brownlow was a
Methodist minister of Knoxville who edited the pro union
Knoxville Whig newspaper. In 1865 he was elected Re-
publican Governor of Tennessee. Secretary of War Edwin
Stanton ordered all Baptist churches in Tennessee turned
over to the pro union, Baptist Home Missionary Society.
With cessation of hostilities, blacks quickly moved out of
their former master’s churches. Black congregations and
denominations were formed.

By 1906 the principal denominations in Tennessee

were:
Southern Baptist 159,838
Methodist Episcopal, South 140,308
National (Negro) Baptist 93,303
Methodist Episcopal 43,180
Cumberland Presbyterian 42,464
African Methodist Episcopal 23,377
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Presbyterian Church in the United States 21,390

Colored Methodist Episcopal 20,634
Roman Catholic 17,252
Primitive Baptist 10,204
Protestant Episcopal 7,874

Churches of Christ numbered 41,411 at that time
with Christian Churches claiming 14,904.6 Division was a
reality among our people. Most of the congregations in
the eastern third of the state gradually fell under the in-
fluence of the Tennessee Christian Missionary Society.

In the twentieth century the Baptist solidified their
hold on East Tennessee. In many counties they now
number fifty percent or more of the population. Carson
Newman College at Jefferson City has produced a steady
stream of young ministers to lead their churches.

The other most significant religious development was
the spread of Pentecostalism in East Tennessee. In 1908,
A. J. Tomlinson founded the Church of God at Cleveland,
Tennessee. This movement, built on emotionalism and
around charismatic and dominant leaders, has fractured
repeatedly into an array of warring bodies. Several of them
still claim Cleveland as their home. Among these factions
are the Church of God of Cleveland, Tennessee; The Church
of God of Prophecy; The Church of God (Jerusalem Acres);
The United Christian Church founded by a former minister
of the Church of God of Prophecy, and the Union Assembly
Church of God. Another strange pentecostal group found
in the mountains of the state is the Church of God with
Signs Following that take their claim of miracle-working
to the extreme of handling deadly vipers and drinking
poison.7 While our preachers have often clashed with
preachers of these pentecostal groups, relatively few of their
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members have embraced the New Testament plan as they
depend mainly on emotionalism and excitement, while
our message appeals more to the intellect.

Such was and is the general state of religion in East
Tennessee. Into this environment came our ancestors in
the faith. From it they carved out a place on which to
stand and send forth the gospel call which thousands of
good and honest hearts have accepted.

The author is greatly indebted to Edwin J. Harrell
for most of the information in the Chapter as cited in the
reference below.

"David E. Harrell, Jr., Religion in the Southern States,
A History Study, edited by Samuel S. Hill, Macon, GA,
Mercer University Press, 1983, p. 290.

?|bid., p. 293.
3 .

Ibid., p. 295.
% |bid.
®Ibid.
6,, .

Ibid., p. 303.

7 Ibid., p. 306-307.
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THE RESTORATION MOVEMENT . ...
WHAT IT WAS AND IS

Churches of Christ are devoted to pleading for the re-
storation of the original Christianity of the New Testament.
To properly interpret and appreciate our background and
history, one must understand the meaning and significance
of the plea to restore the Lord’s cause as it was in the be-
ginning.

Restore is defined ‘“to bring back to or put back into
a former or original state’’ (Webster). Applied to Christi-
anity, it suggests that one is seeking to put back into its
original state the church which Christ built. But that sug-
gests that the church has suffered deterioration over the
years. When devoted men carefully read their New Testa-
ments and then examined the Protestant-Catholic versions
of Christianity of their day, they were struck by the differ-
ences between the original and the modern varieties. Every
aspect of primitive Christianity had suffered from attempts
of men to change it to their liking.

CHANGES

The form of church government had been changed
from a simple congregational government with local elders
to a complex pyramid government over the universal church
(compare Eph. 1:22; Phil. 1:1).
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Names by which the church was known had been
eclipsed by denominational names such as Anglican,
Methodist, Lutheran, and Baptist (compare | Cor. 1:2;
Rom. 16:16).

In most churches the recipient of baptism had been
altered by many from burial by immersion to pouring or
sprinkling water upon the head (compare Rom. 6:3-5).

The creed of the church had been displaced by
human doctrines that overshadowed the will of Jesus (John
12:48; 11 John 9-10).

The form of worship had suffered as additions and
subtractions had been made (compare Acts 2:42; Eph.
5:19).

The gospel plan of salvation was obscured by schemes
advocating salvation by good works or by faith alone (com-
pare Acts 2:37-40; James 2:24).

The unity of the one church was shattered by de-
nominationalism with its myriad of competing bodies (com-
pare John 17:20-23).

These and other changes had robbed believers of a
clear vision of what Christianity was originally like. The
seriousness of the matter is seen when we recall that an all-
wise and holy God designed the church and that sinful,
fallible men had presumed to change it. No one can ever
hope to improve on God'’s word.

NOT A NEW DENOMINATION

To restore does not imply that our forefathers
created a new denomination, better than existing ones.
Christ built his church (Matt. 16:18) and declared it to be
“one body’’ (Eph. 1:22; 4:4). Even a better denomination
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would still be unacceptable, for it is the work of men com-
peting with the true church of God. It is not in man that
walketh to direct his own steps or build his own church
(Jer. 10:23).

NOT A REFORMATION

They did not propose to reform an existing denomi-
nation. Martin Luther and John Calvin set out to reform
the corrupt medieval Catholic church. They learned as did
others that such institutions are impervious to reform. A
reformation is an ‘“‘amendment of what is defective, vicious,
corrupt or depraved’’ (Webster). Had the reformers suc-
ceeded in correcting some or all the abuses of Catholicism,
the finished product would still have been the Roman
Catholic church, not the church the Lord established in
Jerusalem (Matt. 16:18).

The goal of the Restoration pioneers was to go be-
yond all the sects and denominations which have evolved,
to the original Christianity preached and practiced by the
apostles of Christ. The church which Jesus established was
exactly what God wanted it to be. Its faith, worship and
practice perfectly met humanity’s needs. Every attempt by
uninspired men to improve upon, or modernize Christianity
only succeeded in corrupting it more. The collector of
fine art objects does not settle for an imitation, no matter
how fine. He diligently searches until he finds the original.
So did they. Like the jewelry merchant, who found the
pearl of great price, they were willing to invest all to possess
it (Matt. 13:45-46). They would be simply Christians,
nothing more. Since the words of Christ will judge men in
the last day (John 12:48), those words must be heeded

13



in this life.
STRIVE FOR THE IDEAL

In restoring the church of the New Testament, they
did not seek to be like the church at Corinth, Jerusalem, or
Laodicea. Every congregation then as now was made up of
human materials. While the design and blueprint of Chris-
tianity was conceived in heaven, the disciples that con-
stitute a congregation are always human, and prone to sin
(Rom. 3:23). As a consequence, every congregation re-
flects that human weakness in imperfection. Some are
good but others are average or poor. But the ideal is set
forth in the divine plan and every Christian in every age
should strive to measure up to it. If they would dedicate
themselves to following the Bible in all matters of faith
and practice, then they would be the same kind of Chris-
tians as were the apostles.

A UNIVERSAL APPEAL

The idea of restoring New Testament Christianity
had a universal appeal to people in the nineteenth century.

It looked to that one universal church that Jesus
founded and of which he is Savior (Matt. 16:18; Eph.
5:23).

A universal book (the Bible) was set forth as the only
rule of faith and practice, the only authoritative and com-
plete respository of all that is necessary to serving God and
preparing for eternity (!l Tim. 3:16-17).

Their confession of faith was universal; that Jesus
Christ is the Son of God (Matt. 16:16).
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Universally accepted Biblical names were used such
as: Christian, disciples, brethren, saints, church of Christ
(Acts 11:26; Matt. 23:8;: Rom. 16:16).

Their teaching on baptism and the Lord’s Supper was
universally appealing for they were observed precisely as
Christ instructed (Mark 16:15-16; Col. 2:12; Matt. 26:
26-29).

They had a universal aim which was to exalt and
spread the kingdom of God on earth as it is in heaven (Matt.
28:18-20).

Honest souls found it difficult to object to such
spiritual principles as: Wearing the name of Christ to the ex-
clusion of all human names . . . Faith in the living, reigning,
Christ as the only creed of the church . .. The New Testa-
ment of Christ being the church’s only book of disci-
pline . . . The recognition of the complete authority of
Christ over his church . . . Christ’s one church being exalt-
ed above all man-made institutions . . . All the commands
of Christ being obeyed by his people . . . The ideals of
Christ exemplified in the lives of all who wear his name . . .
Unity in Christ by faith, repentance and baptism into him.

This commitment would supersede all denomination-
alism to the end that there should be one body with Christ
as both head and foundation.

The concept of Restoration was not new. |t has
always been a constant need in religion. Students of church
history find many voices who made this plea. |t was not
just a local movement. Across America and around the
world independent groups have sprung up with the an-
nounced goal of restoring original Christianity. This com-
mon commitment could not but bring these disciples to-
gether in Christ when sincerely followed. It was not a
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governmental or institutional movement. Rather, God-fear-
ing individuals were making their way out of the darkness
of religious confusion into the pure light of God’s eternal
truth.

While a lost world groped in darkness and a broken,
confused Christendom floundered in its own mire, a tiny
band of devout, God-fearing men launched a mighty move-
ment on the American frontier to restore the church to its
original state of purity. James O‘Kelly and Rice Haggard,
Elias Smith and Abner Jones, Barton Stone and Walter
Scott, Thomas and Alexander Campbell, men of like-
precious faith, laid their all on the altar of God and went
forth on a mighty crusade for their Master. They gladly
suffered shame, ridicule, and hardship to accomplish their
holy mission. They exalted Christ, preached his gospel,
and restored his church to her pristine purity. Never has
a more noble task been undertaken. Not since the apostles
has a band of men so blessed the world.

This then was the thinking of those noble souls who
went before us. Their convictions were not arrived at
suddenly, rather they grew as they searched the Scriptures
to ascertain God'’s will for their own lives. Once found,
they determined to share them with every soul they met.
We are their heirs. Our fathers in the faith sleep in the dust
of East Tennessee’s hills and valleys. The torch of faith
has been passed to our hands and a sacred obligation rests
upon us to keep it brightly burning and pass it on to gener-
ations that will follow.

It is important to note that the call to restoration
sprang up in many quarters. Some called themselves ‘‘Chris-
tians’’ and their congregations ‘‘Christian Churches.”” Some
preferred the name Church of Christ. Yet others took the
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name ‘‘Disciples of Christ.” For the first 100 years these
names were used interchangeably. When the division over
instrumental music in worship and church organization
arose, those who rejected those innovations gradually shift-
ed to the name ‘‘Church of Christ’”’ since it was clearly a
name used by the inspired teachers of old. Paul said to the
Romans: ‘“‘all the Churches of Christ salute you’” (Rom.
16:16). Those preferring instrumental music in worship
and missionary societies have generally, but not always,
taken the names Christian Church and Disciples of Christ.
Some of those congregations, however, retain the name
Church of Christ which causes some confusion. That is
the case with some churches in East Tennessee. In this
state, prior to 1880, almost none of the congregations of
the Restoration movement in East Tennessee used instru-
mental music. A group then that worshipped in a fashion
identical with us today might have been called a ““Chris-
tian Church.” This distinction needs to be kept in mind
as we review the record of the past.
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RACCOON JOHN SMITH
EAST TENNESSEE’S CONTRIBUTION
TO THE RESTORATION MOVEMENT

Long before there was a gospel preacher or a congre-
gation of the Church of Christ in East Tennessee a child was
born who was destined to become one of the greatest
preachers of the nineteenth century.

On October 15, 1784 a baby boy was born to George
and Rebecca Smith in a log cabin in the Holston Valley,
Sullivan County, Tennessee. John was the ninth of thirteen
children born to the Smith’s. At that time Sullivan County
and most of East Tennessee were part of the short-lived
state of Franklin.

As a boy, John grew up working the fields of the
family farm with his father and brothers. There was little
time for play in those days. There were no public schools.
Education was gained at home or when an itinerant teacher
came to the community. John was nine or ten years of age
when he entered his first school. He was able to attend
classes only some four months. Being a bright student, he
learned to read, write, and cipher. Most important of all,
those four months opened the pages of God’'s word to his
young mind. The Bible being one of the few books in the
Smith home, he read it extensively until in adulthood it
saturated every phase in his preaching.

The Smith family were devout, Calvinistic Baptists.
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John was raised in that tradition and imbibed that doctrine.
As a young man, he became a noted Baptist preacher in
Central Kentucky.

In 1795 George Smith sold his Tennessee land and
he moved to Stockton Valley in Clinton County, Ken-

tucky! Here John grew to adulthood and took a wife.

“On the third Sunday in May, 1808, Richard Barrier
and Ishan Burnet ordained John Smith to the ministry’’ of
the Baptist Church? He preached the Baptist faith among
the country folk of Central Kentucky until 1825 when he
cast his lot with Alexander Campbell and his band of
fellow-preachers who were urging men to throw off the
chains of denominationalism and go back to the Bible.

When the North District Association of Baptist
Churches met at Cane Spring for their annual meeting, the
fourth Saturday of July, 1827, Smith was charged with
three heresies:

(1) Of reading from Alexander Campbell’s trans-
lation of the Bible instead of the King James
Version.

(2) Of saying ‘Immerse you’ instead of ‘I baptize
you’ when administering baptism.

(3) Of allowing the communicants to break their
own bread when partaking of the Lord’s Supper,
instead of having the preacher do it for them.

When read, Smith leaped to his feet and cried, “‘| plead
guilty to them all.”’3

Among the brotherhood of restoring churches,
Smith’s name and reputation spread far and wide. He was
one of the most colorful leaders of the movement. The
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name ‘‘Raccoon John Smith’’ was given him because of his
claim to have come from Stockton Valley where ‘“saltpeter
caves abound, and raccoons make their homes.”* Smith
was renowned for his wit, humor, and repartee. Several
thousand souls were won to the Lord’s way through his life
and teaching.

On a preaching trip into Tennessee, Smith was in-
vited to address a meeting of lawyers and judges at Sparta
in White County. A friend later asked if he were not em-
barrassed to address such an august group. ‘‘Not the least,”
said he; ““for | have learned that judges and lawyers, so far
as the Bible is concerned, are the most ignorant class of
people in the world -- except Doctors of Divinity."5

John Smith, a son of the East Tennessee mountains,
““was fearless, positive, humorous, and uncompromising in
his presentation of the truth. He had strong convictions
that money, position, or prestige could not buy.”®

Death came in his eighty-fourth year on February
28, 1868. He died at the home of his daughter in Mexico,
Missouri. He was laid to rest in Lexington, Kentucky with
J. W. McGarvey delivering the eulogy.7

Surely Raccoon John Smith is an East Tennessee
Christian all can take great pride in claiming.
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BARTON STONE
AN EAST TENNESSEE SOJOURNER

Barton Warren Stone stands with Thomas and Alex-
ander Campbell as the paramount leaders of the early Re-
storation Movement. Although Stone’s principal work was
done in North Central Kentucky, he did travel through
East Tennessee and later preached throughout the middle
section of the state.

Stone received his academic training at the school
of Dr. David Caldwell in Greensboro, North Carolina.
While there he was converted under the influence of William
Hodge and joined the Presbyterian Church. Ere long, young
Barton decided that he wished to become a preacher of the
gospel. In 1793 he became a candidate for the ministry
in the Orange Presbytery. While wrestling with the pro-
found theological mysteries regarding the Trinity he be-
came depressed and almost gave up his goal of preach-
ing.! Three years were spent teaching in an academy near
Washington, Georgia. There he was associated with Hope
Hull, a Methodist preacher who had been sympathetic
with the reformation plea of James O’Kelly among
the Methodists. It is likely that Stone was influenced by
Hull’s views? In 1796 Barton received his license to preach
from the Orange Presbytery. When his friend R. Foster
decided to abandon his work as a preacher, Stone was
tempted to do the same. Fortunately a pious old sister
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detected his discouragement and told him plainly that she
feared he was acting the part of Jonah, the prophet who ran
from his preaching assignment to the Ninevites. She encour-
aged him to go west over the mountains, which advice he
took3

His journey west led Stone through Southwestern
Virginia. He made a stop at Wythe County, Virginia, and
ended up staying from May until July preaching among the
people. His itinerary took Stone through Cumberland Gap
and Knoxville. In 1796, Knoxville was ‘‘a town of less than
one hundred dwellings and five hundred residents.”’ |t was
the capital of the new state of Tennessee’

The land between Knoxville and Nashville was wilder-
ness country yet occupied by Indians. Travelers went to
the ‘““house of rendezvous’” to find companions for the
hazardous trip west. Two travelers were waiting to embark,
so Stone joined them for the trip. One man was ‘‘a back-
woodsman, and Indian fighter of great courage,’”’ the other
a total coward. They left Knoxville August 14, 1796

The journey was uneventful until they crossed the
Clinch River near present day Kingston. About sundown
they discovered fifteen to twenty Indians some three hun-
dred feet away near a canebreak. The pilgrims sped away
on their horses with the Indians in hot pursuit. Unable to
cross the mountains in the dark, they hid in the thicket
through the night. Wolves could be heard in the darkness.
A rain fell on them, but the Indians did not overtake them.

Stone’s horse threw a shoe the next day and was un-
able to carry him. Neither of his fellow-travelers would let
him ride on their horses. One of them had a pack horse,
but he would not even allow Stone to ride it. They rode
off leaving the poor stranger alone in the wilderness. He
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walked the one hundred and fifty miles to Nashville without
incident, driving his horse before him. To Stone, Nashville
“‘was a poor little village, hardly worth noticing.”®

Stone soon moved to Burbon County, Kentucky
where he ministered to the Cane Ridge and Concord Presby-
terian congregations. In 1801 the great Cane Ridge revival
took place, shaking the moral and spiritual foundations of
Central Kentucky and bringing hundreds of souls to re-
pentance.

Soon Stone and his co-laborers were forced to separ-
ate from the Presbyterians. After a long and toilsome
spiritual journey he arrived at the conclusion that he must
give up all human creeds and practices, follow the Bible
alone and be a simple New Testament Christian.

Barton Stone helped to write a remarkable document
entitled the Last Will and Testament of the Springfield
Presbytery. Among the twelve items of the will we read:

We will, that candidates for the Gospel ministry
henceforth study the Holy Scriptures with fervent
prayer, and obtain licenses from God to preach the

simple Gospel . . . without any mixture of philos-
ophy, vain deceit, traditions of men, or the rudiments
of the world . . .”

We will, that the Church of Christ resume her native
right of internal government . . .”

We will, that the people henceforth take the Bible as
the only sure guide to heaven . ..” ’

When Stone’s wife, Eliza, died in 1810, he left his
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four little girls with friends and set forth on an extended
missionary journey that brought him back to middle Ten-
nessee.

In Tennessee Stone took a new wife, Celia Bowen.
He spent part of two years preaching in Davidson, Summer,
and Wilson Counties in Tennessee while living on Mansker
Creek, near present day Hendersonville® Missionary trips
were made into Maury, Marshall, and Rutherford counties.
A tireless worker, Stone led thousands of souls to the
Master. Eventually he moved back to Kentucky where his
restoration message found a tremendous reception.

In December of 1831 a meeting occurred between the
followers of Stone and Campbell to discuss the possibility
of union of the groups. The climax came when Raccoon
John Smith addressed the assembly thusly:

God has but one people on the earth, He has given
them but one Book, and therein exhorts and com-
mands them to be one family. A union, such as we
plead for -- a union of God’s people on that one
book -- must then be practicable . . ..

For several years past, | have stood pledged to meet
the religious world, or any part of it, on the ancient
Gospel and order of things, as presented in the words
of the Book. This is the foundation on which Chris-
tians once stood, and on it they can, and ought to
stand again. From this | can not depart to meet any
man, or set of men, in the wide world . . ..

Let us, then, my brethren, be no longer Campbellites
or Stoneites, New Lights or Old Lights, or any other
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kind of lights, but let us all come to the Bible, and to
the Bible alone, as the only book in the world that
can give us all the light we need?

Barton Stone, after a few preliminary comments responded:

| have not one objection to the ground laid down by
him as the true scriptural basis of union among the
people of God; and | am willing, to give him now and
here, my hand.'®

From that day the Christians and the Disciples went
forth as one body of people. Not since the days of the
apostles has the gospel been so readily received and the
Lord’s church prospered so well.

The records of the Spring Creek church near Riceville
in McMinn County indicate that Barton Stone held a meet-
ing for that church prior to his death in 1844. He greatly
influenced the spread of the Restoration cause in this
region. Many of the early preachers were influenced by
Stone and his gospel paper The Christian Messenger.

Stone died in Hannibal, Missouri, on Saturday,
November 9, 18441 Tolbert Fanning wrote of him:

The history of Brother Stone would be the history of
the most important religious movement in the United
States, for nearly half a century . . . If justice is ever
done to his memory, he will be regarded as the first
great American reformer -- the first man, who, to
much purpose, pleaded the ground that the Bible,
without note, commentary, or creed must destroy
antichristian powers, and eventually conquer the
world . . . A man more devoted to Christianity, has
not lived nor died . . .”" 12
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THE MEN WHO FIRST SOWED THE SEED

The first preachers who preached the back-to-the-
Bible message in East Tennessee were the associates of
James O’Kelly of North Carolina. O’Kelly was likely born
in Virginia some time prior to 1741. In 1759 he was mar-
ried to Elizabeth Meeks. They made their home in Meck-
lenburg, Virginia, until 1797 when they moved to Chattham
County, North Carolina, where they resided until his death!

O’Kelly joined the Methodists in 1775 and dedicated
his life to the service of God. In 1778 he was assigned a
circuit for which he preached?

A strong patriot, James O’Kelly fought against the
British in the Revolutionary War3 His love of liberty and
freedom from tyranny led O’Kelly to resist Bishop Francis
Asbury’s tyrannical rule over his fellow preachers. Asbury
claimed the right to assign each man’s preaching circuit
which they had to accept without the right of appeal.

O’Kelly’s progression towards the Restoration idea
is reflected in his protest at the General Conference of the
Methodist Episcopal Church which met in Baltimore in
November 1792. He later recalled:

| then arose, and stood before the assembly with the
New Testament of our Lord Jesus, in my hand, and
spake after this manner: Brethren, hearken unto me,
put away all other books, and forms, and let this be
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the only criterion, and that will satisfy me’

When the Conference refused his petition to limit
Asbury’s power, O’Kelly submitted his resignation and left
the meeting for home. The following year (1793) at Mana-
kintown, Virginia, O’Kelly and his sympathizers officially
severed their ties with Methodism.

The Methodist records for 1793 list James O’Kelly,
John Allen, Rice Haggard and John Robertson . .. as with-
drawn from the conference’ The seceders first called them-
selves Republican Methodists.

In 1794 the Republican Methodists met at Old Leba-
non Church in Surry County, Virginia, on August 4. It was
recommended that they lay aside every manuscript and go
only by God’s word. Rice Haggard arose and proposed:

Brethren, this is a sufficient rule of faith and practice.
By it we are told that the disciples were called Chris-
tians, and | move that henceforth and forever the
followers of Christ be known as Christians simply.

Following the above motion, a brother Hafferty of
North Carolina moved that they take the Bible as their only

creed®
From this meeting came the Five Cardinal Principles

of the Christian Church:

1. The Lord Jesus as the only head of the church.
The name Christian to the exclusion of all party
and sectarian names.

3. They holy Bible, or the Scriptures of the Old and
New Testament as our only creed, and a sufficient
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rule of faith and practice.

Christian character, or vital piety, the only test of
church fellowship and membership.

The right of private judgment, and the liberty of
conscience, the privilege and duty of all.’

“In 1801 the ‘Republican Methodists’ changed their
name to the Christian Church.” 8

In An Address to the Christian Church, Under the
Similitude of an Elect Lady and Her Children, O'Kelly set
forth his view for achieving Christian unity:

7.

13.

15.

| would propose to promote Christian union by
the following method, viz: Let the Presbyterians
lay aside the book called the confession of faith
(sic).

Which faith, is proposed to ministers before they
are received, and instead thereof, present the
Holy Bible to the minister who offers himself as
a fellow-laborer.

Let him be asked if he believes that all things re-
quisite and necessary for the church to believe
and obey, are already recorded by inspired
men . ..

What more does the church need, than is above
inserted! Let their Episcopal dignity submit it to
Christ, who is the head, and only head of his
church; and then we as brethren will walk to-
gether, and follow God as dear children . . .
Again, as each church is called by a different
name, suppose we dissolve those unscriptural
names, and for peace sake, and for Christ’s sake,
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call ourselves Christians. This would be ‘the
Christian Church.’®

When O’Kelly and his sympathizers broke with As-
bury’s Methodists they numbered about 1,000 members
with some thirty preachers. By 1795 the Methodists noted
’a decrease of 4,673 members among the whites (and) . ..
1644 among the colored.”” Many of those lost went with
O’Kelly. By 1810 the O‘Kelly Christians claimed an esti-
mated 20,000 members!® Those of the O‘Kelly movement
were not unanimous in their views on baptism. Some held
to sprinkling while others practiced immersion. O‘Kelly’s
co-workers, having been Methodist circuit riders, continued
their traveling evangelism not only in North Carolina and
Virginia but into all the surrounding states including East
Tennessee. James Haw, Rice and David Haggard, and
possibly others pursued missionary work in Tennessee. The
Haggard brothers were later associated with Barton Stone
and his group.M

In 1808 Robert Punshan wrote to the Herald of
Gospel Liberty about O’Kelly’s movement. He said: “The
church has spread through Virginia, North and South
Carolina, Georgia, Tennessee, Kentucky, Ohio and the
western part of Pennsylvania, where there are thousands
united in the same spirit worshipping the Lord."" 2

In the year 1810 Joseph Thomas, the White Pilgrim,
traveled to Tennessee. He ‘‘passed through Jonesborough,
Leesburg and Greentown in East Tennessee’’ and crossed
the Nolechucky, Wataga, Clinch, and Holstein Rivers. In
his biography he recalls “In the wilderness | suffered hunger
and cold, being exposed to an incessant rain one whole
day . ..” He traveled on to Middle Tennessee and preached
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at several locations there.l®

A Christian Conference was held near Murfreesboro,
Tennessee, in August of 182614 Fifty preachers were in
attendance. Many of those present were affiliated with
Barton Stone. This reflects the fact that there was an un-
official mingling and merging of the two movements in the
fields. The similarity of their beliefs and practices made
this a natural response. In a report to Stone’s Christian
Messenger it was stated that ‘‘congregations in Tennessee
and Alabama were numerous and increasing.15

A Henry Grant of the O‘Kelly movement lived and
preached in East Tennessee. In 1859 he organized a con-
ference of Tennessee Christians.'®

These men who had resolved to be only Christians
and to be governed exclusively by God’s word blazed a
trail through the wooded hills of East Tennessee. They
did not produce lasting congregations. A later generation
traveled the trail they cut and built more permanent con-
gregations of God’s people.

'Durward T. Stokes, and William T. Scott, History of
the Christian _Church in the South (N. C.: Elon College,
1973), pp. 1-2.

2|bid., p. 2.
31bid., p. 4.

41bid., p. 11.
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POST OAK SPRINGS CHRISTIAN CHURCH:
THE FIRST RESTORATION CONGREGATION
IN TENNESSEE

Some two miles east of Rockwood, in Roane County,
Tennessee on Highway 70 stands a small frame church
building. In the yard before it is a marker that reads:

POST OAK SPRINGS, TENNESSEE
CHRISTIAN CHURCH
THE MOTHER CHURCH IN THE STATE
FOUNDED A.D. 1812....

Although the early records of this congregation are lost,
H. C. Wagner has pieced together a mosaic of her early
history which helps us understand our early days in East
Tennessee.

Among the earliest settlers that came to Roane
County was lIsaac Rice. Following the Treaty of Tellico
in 1805 which made this area available for white settlement.
Rice, his brother-in-law, William Mattock, and Joseph Mee,
moved in from Hawkins County. They settled near the site
of a present day Rockwood. ‘“‘These three men built a log
meeting house and organized a congregation’’ near or about
18122 Subscribing to the Restoration plea, these folks
were zealous to share their faith with their neighbors in an
enthusiastic and uncompromising way. Several converts
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were made including ‘‘a family of Randolph’s, Sally
McElwee, and Thomas Blake.’’ 3

The religious convictions which Rice held and preach-
ed were the same as those of Barton Stone. The Post Oak
Springs congregation enjoyed fellowship with Stone’s
followers in Kentucky.

The meeting house was destroyed by fire somewhere
between 1814 and 1817. An entry in a Roane County deed
book speaks of ‘‘Isaac Rice’s burnt meeting house.”’* Rice
accused a man named Brooks of deliberately burning the
church building. The case was tried but Brooks was ac-
quitted. Shortly thereafter Rice moved south to McMinn
County and settled in an area now called Riceville. Soon
thereafter he died®

When Rice moved away the leadership of the small
congregation fell upon Major John Smith. Smith owned a
large tract of land near the Springs. Though not a preacher
he led the congregation in meeting regularly for songs,
prayers and Bible study. They met under some large oak
trees when the weather was fair®

Soon brother Smith was joined by two other faith-
ful men, a brother Long and a brother Acred who helped
him lead the group. Brother Long seems to have come
from Claiborne County and Acred from upper East Ten-
nessee! It is thought that Long was a Presbyterian. At
first he bitterly opposed the Christians, but his only daugh-
ter married brother Alfred Owens and she won her father
to the New Testament way? He grew to be a congregation-
al leader at Post Oak Springs.

Smith constructed a mill near the spring and the con-
gregation worshipped in the mill house during inclement
weather? When Smith died, the mill passed into new hands
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and the little flock was without a regular meeting place for
some years. During this period the church floundered.

In the year 1833 Isaac Mulkey took up the Post Oak
Springs work, reorganized and rejuvenated the group. From
Barton Stone’s Christian Messenger we find the following
report:

Brother Isaac Malkey (sic) of Roane Co., E. Ten.
July 5, 1834. Thus writes: | moved to this place 8
or 9 months ago. There were here 16 or 17, old
disciples, who had been congregated 15 or 20 years
ago by brother E. D. Moore. Last Sept. we organized
as nearly as we could with our knowledge on primi-
tive grounds. On every first day we meet to break
bread -- we attend to the apostles doctrine, fellow-
ship and prayers. In November | had the pleasure
of seeing one neighbor come and confess the Lord,
and from that time we have enjoyed glorious and re-
freshing seasons. Between 90 and 100 have been
immersed.!®

Nothing is known about the brother E. D. Moore,
but we can deduce from the dates given that he worked
with the brethren after the removal of brother Isaac Rice.

Isaac Mulkey came to Roane County from Dand-
ridge, Tennessee. It is thought that he was a member of
the Baptist Church before moving to Post Oak. Records
tell us there was a ““Baptist Church of Christ constituted on
French Broad River in Jefferson County by Jonathan Mul-
key and Isaac Barton in 1786.” ''Isaac was the son of Jona-
than Mulkey. It is reported that ‘‘the membership of this
church, under the preaching of John W. Stone and Raccoon
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John Smith, connected themselves with what is now the
Christian Church.” "2 The correctness of the statement can-
not be verified.

Mulkey labored in Roane County between 1833 and
1840. Following his departure Gilbert A. and Gilmore
Randolph ministered to the congregation.13

William J. Owens was received into the Post Oak
Church about 1836 under Mulkey’s preaching. In the early
1840’s he was ordained to preach in an open air ceremony
under the oak trees where the present church building
stands. One of the Randolph brothers and two visiting
preachers led in the service. Following his appointment,
brother Owens preached on the theme ‘‘Jesus Said, Follow
Me’ (Matt. 4:19). From that time until after the Civil
War, Owens was an active leader of the Post Oak congre-

gation?

THE CIVIL WAR ERA

During the bloody Civil War the Post Oak Church and
the local Methodist Church were forced to suspend public
services. East Tennessee was a divided region with partisans
on both sides of the conflict. Brother John Acuff of the
Post Oak Church had four sons. Two served in the Con-
federate Army and two in the Union. One son was killed
fighting for the South!®

With the ending of hostilities and the return of peace,
both the Christians and the Methodists met to reorganize.
At the Christian Church the brethren met for worship and
communion on the first day of the week. Following the
lesson brother John Acuff, one of the elders, invited all to
participate in commemorating the Lord’s death. Two of
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his sons came forward and sat down together. A few days

earlier one had worn the Union blue, the other the Con-

federate gray. Their willingness to bridge the hostilities of

the bitter war led all the congregation to do the same.

“The wounds were healed and the church united again.”’ 16
W. E. McElvee recalled that at the same time:

At the Methodist Church a certain Rev. Hayden had
called a like service. He then drew out the roster or
roll list of members and called the roll. Eighty-four
answered present. He then announced that he was
going to organize a loyal church, and as he re-read the
list of names he struck off sixty-one as being disloyal,
leaving twenty-three to organize.

Those expelled left the building and after consulta-
tion decided to go to the Post Oak Christian Church where
politics and the war were not made a test of loyalty. Even-
tually most of those Methodists united with the Christians.
Ere long the Methodist Church died and its building was
left abandoned. The Lord’s church flourished with an in-
fusion of new members.!’

THE CHRISTIAN COMMUNE

During the war years Brother W. J. Owings, one of
the Post Oak elders, had moved to Kentucky where he oper-
ated a mercantile business. He was able to amass a small
fortune. Following the armistice he returned to Roane
County and the Post Oak Church.

Having read in the second chapter of Acts about the
early Christians having all things in common, Owings
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determined to establish a communal farm where all things
would be shared in common. In 1867 he proceeded to
purchase a large farm some three miles from the church and
invited all who would to come and live in his Christian
utopia. A few went, sincerely believing that such was the
right thing to do, others who were lazy and shiftless gravi-
tated looking for free bread and easy living.

Owings enlarged a house on the farm to the size of a
hotel and built eight two-room cottages. The members ate
together in the great house and assembled there for worship.
Twice daily brother Owings instructed his flock in the
Scriptures. A mill was constructed and the folks were ex-
pected to work the farm and operate the mill to generate
their cooperate income. While all wish to eat the meals and
enjoy the shelter, few were willing to work with diligence.
From the beginning the project was a financial failure. Ere
long, Owings’ fortune was depleted and the experiment
failed.

The straw that broke the camel’s back provides an
interesting story. Elder Owing’s wife was an industrious
lady who made nice quilts and rugs for her home. Other
ladies of the commune complained that they did not have
such things for their houses. Owings tried to convince his
lady that she should share her creations or give them up.
She flatly refused! His daughter-in-law made some funds
by knitting and purchased a hand bag. Again the other
ladies insisted they should have one too. She suggested that
they get busy and earn the money to buy one.

Finally Owings realized that his dream was doomed.
The community was disbanded and the proprietor was left
penniless. Owings and the few who were faithful returned
to the Post Oak congregation, poorer but wiser.'
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Eventually the brethren secured the abandoned
Methodist building for their meeting house. The Post Oak
Springs building erected in 1876 still stands. Among those
who preached for the congregation at this period were
James |., Anthony and J. H. Denton. J. E. Stewart served
the church in 1892-1894; W. J. Shelburne served in 1897.1°

The Post Oak Springs Church was among those swept
away by the digression at the end of the nineteenth and the
beginning of the twentieth century. Today the congrega-
tion continues to meet as a Christian Church in a modern
brick structure. The old frame building stands as a silent
monument to a faith that once burned brightly in the
bosom of devoted disciples who strove to restore the simple
Christianity of the first century. From this congregation
came a faithful remnant that were the founding members
of the Rockwood Church of Christ.

"H. C. Wagner, History of Disciples of Christ in Upper
East Tennessee (unpublished thesis for Master of Arts
Degree, University of Tennessee, 1943), p. 27.

2 bid., p. 30.
% Ibid., p. 30.
%Ibid., p. 30.
®Ibid., p. 31.
® Ibid., pp. 33-34.
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7 Ibid., p. 34.
8|bid., p. 35.
%Ibid., p. 35.

198, W. Stone, Christian Messenger, v. 3, (Sept. 1834),
p. 282.

" As quoted by Wagner, p. 36. The original copy of this
church record is kept in the bank vault at Dandridge, Tenn.

12 |bid., p. 37.
3 |bid., p. 38.
% |bid., pp. 38-39.
' Ibid., p. 39.
% |bid., p. 39.
7 |bid., pp. 39-40.
'8 |bid., pp. 40-42.

9 bid., p. 43.
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LIBERTY HILL CHURCH OF CHRIST
McMINN COUNTY, TENNESSEE

Brother Barney Casteel was the founding preacher of
the Liberty Hill Church near Englewood, Tennessee. He
also built the log meeting house in which the church met.
It was 15 x 20 feet in size. The date of its beginning was
around 1819. (An old Bible in possession of one of the
members lists the founding date as 1826). Some of the
early families at Liberty Hill were the Casteels, the Jacks,
the Elliotts, the Daughterys, the Burgers, the Casses, the
Coles, and the Whites. Some of them rest in the old church
cemetery. This original building was used until the 1840’s
when it was moved to the Liberty Hill Knoll. A plot of
land was donated by the Casse family. John Davis, the
church’s preacher, cleared the land and erected the log
building. Here also a cemetery was started. The oldest
grave marks the resting place of Nancy Elliott, born 1818,
died 1845.

During the Civil War the church building was taken
over by command of Thomas P. Duggan, leader of “The
Old Bloody Seventh Battalion.” It was used as a ‘‘pest
house,”” i. e., a quarantine house for soldiers with contag-
ious diseases. Doubtless many good men breathed their
last breath within its walls.

Brother W. A. Daughtery was born in 1853 and grew
up worshipping at Liberty Hill Church. Following his
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baptism, he grew in faith, knowledge and ability. His breth-
ren appointed him their minister in 1879, a post he held
until his death in 1933. For 54 years he taught the mem-
bers the Word of God.

In the year 1886-87, the congregation had outgrown
the building, so a third meeting house was erected. A much
finer building than its log predecessors, it was constructed
of sawn lumber with the cracks covered by strips. There
were three glass windows on each side. Brother N. G. Jack
shared in the preaching duties of the church. He later
moved to Dallas, Texas and played an important role in the
evangelizing of that new field. In those days it was common
for congregations to have a man preach for them one or two
Sundays each month. Other weekends he was evangelizing
in new areas. Thus they might claim anywhere from two
to four regular preachers. Few of the preachers received
anywhere near a livable income from their preaching. They
supported their families by farming, teaching, or whatever
skills they had. Their preaching was a service freely given
for the glory of God.

A new meeting house was erected in 1908. It was
located some 300 yards from the site of the old building.
The new plot of land was given by brother Houston Jack.
Brother W. A. Daughtery was the minister at the time of
its erection.

Other men who have served the church as ministers
include Creed Samples, Frelon Williams, F. C. Williams, Jr.,
Bob Williams, and Francis Williams. The current minister
at the church is Pat Wilson. He is assisted by Mike Williams.
The present building was erected in 1975. The attendance
averages approximately one hundred on the Lord’s Day.
The Liberty Hill Church has worshipped and served the
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Lord for some 168 years. This is one of the oldest churches
in East Tennessee and one of the few that remained faith-
ful through the apostasy at the turn of the century. Many
of its members have scattered and taken root in other con-

gregations near and afar.
The church’s address is Rt. 1, Englewood, Tennessee,

37329.

Information taken from a news article “Old Liberty Hill
Church Taken in Civil War,” The Daily Post - Athenian,

June 10, 19609.
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JAMES MILLER AND BOONE’'S CREEK CHURCH

One of the earliest preachers in upper East Tennessee
was brother James Miller who was born in Maine in 1798.
He migrated to Tennessee by way of Ohio and Kentucky.
There it seems he came in contact with Barton Stone. On
October 16, 1824 he was received into the Sinking Creek
Baptist Church in Carter County, Tennessee after relating
an acceptable religious experience. Six months later on
April 16, 1825 he asked for and received a letter of dis-
missal from that church.! It does not appear that brother
Miller ever preached for the Baptists. By 1826 Miller was
performing marriage ceremonies as a ‘‘minister of the
Gospel.”” A later record states that he was ordained by
Barton W. Stone and ‘‘commenced to preach in upper East
Tennessee, . . . and contending that party names tended
only to divide the people of God.” 2 Soon after separating
from the Baptists, brother Miller conducted a great revival
meeting in Boone’'s Creek Valley, Washington County
which resulted in many additions. This would have been
the summer of 1825. Miller’s preaching divided the Buf-
falo Ridge Baptist Church. An investigative committee
from the Holston Baptist Association found Buffalo Ridge
a ““divided people in principle and practice."3 In the records
of the Sinking Creek Baptist Church, October 18, 1826 is
the following note:
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We also declare against Molly Humphries for joining
Miller’s church . . . . We unanimously agree not to
invite any of the people calld (sic) Arians Socianian
Unitarians or Sysmatics or that will not wright (sic)
their creed to preach in our meeting house?

It was common for their denominational neighbors to
associate Stone and his followers with these heretical
groups. This was because the Christians would not sub-
scribe to their credal statements about the trinity. Also it
was a ‘‘name-calling’”’ tactic to besmirch their Christian
faith and prejudice folks against them.

Baptist historian, J. J. Barnett records that Buffalo
Ridge Baptist Church was reduced from 350 members to
fourteen by the ‘“Arian heresy as taught by Barton Stone
and Alexander Campbell . . 0

In his new home, Miller found a wife, Elizabeth
Devault. Brother Miller supported his family by farming
and teaching. His preaching was done at nights, on week-
ends, and when the crops were laid by. He taught at the
Boone’s Creek Seminary.

Colonel E. E. Reeves wrote the following glowing
description of brother Miller:

Once there lived a man in this country whom | knew
three-quarters of a century ago . . . . He hailed from
Maine . . . . He was a minister of the gospel in the
Christian Church. Of heroic size, with a benevolent
face and a dignity in his bearing, he was a command-
ing figure in any assemblage of people. The Rev.
James Miller was a ripe scholar, a fluent speaker and
withal a real logician. At first he was a school teacher
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during the week and a pulpiteer on the Lord’s day.
However, soon he devoted his entire time to his holy
calling, leaving the management of his extensive farm
to his practical wife. Ere long he conducted a re-
markable religious revival on Boone’s Creek in this
county, which in its scope and sweep, was a wonder
in that day, for in that community nearly every soul
was gathered into the Christian Church; and through
the generations following to the present the Chris-
tian Church dominates all other churches in that
community. The Boone’s Creek Brick Church was
the outgrowth of that eventful religious awakening,
and was longer and more widely known, than prob-
ably any other in a large section of our country.
From it have gone out men and influences which
have proved the primal human cause of the develop-
ment of the Christian Church into the commanding
position it occupies in our section of the coun’cry.6

Most of those won from the Baptists became mem-
bers of Boone’s Creek Christian Church.

When they formerly organized their congregation, the
Boone’s Creek brethren drafted and signed the following
statement:

We the members of the Church of Christ at Boone’s
Creek have met together on the twentieth day of
September in the year of our Lord One Thousand
eight hundred and thirty-four and according to the
Acts of the Apostles The church have chosen from
among us seven men of honest report and ordained
them elders of the church. And Daniel Fox a
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member of the church was appointed clerk of the
church on the same day and year above mentioned.

ELDERS DEACONS
James Miller William White
Jacob Miller Daniel Isenburger
Jacob Range John V. Hoss
Daniel Snider
John Elsy
Jeremiah Bacon
Jesse Hunt

George Grisham’

The membership list showed forty-four brothers in-
cluding several negroes, each identified as ‘‘man of coler
(sic).” The names of ninety sisters are given. It is thought
that Boone’s Creek Church first began meeting as early as
1829 though it was not fully organized with elders and
deacons until 1854.

In September of 1841 John Wright, James Miller,
James |. Tipton, and David T. Wright participated in a great
gospel meeting at Boone’s Creek which won fifty-six souls
for Christ® The rapid growth of the church is seen in her
membership figures. In September 1841 she had 156; in
February of 1842, 238; in July 1842, 259; in August 1843,
299. When the Civil War began there were 318 members.
After the disruptions of the war only seventy-three mem-
bers were accounted for? This sad experience was repeated
throughout the South.

Numerous preachers were sent forth by the Boone's
Creek Church. Among them were Spotswood Dodge
(1850), Hezekiah Hinkel (1866) a black brother, W. C.
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Maupin (1867) and John Ellis.

Brother James Miller died February 19, 1874. In his
will he left a lot in Johnson City to the church for a build-
ing site. A comfortable meeting house was erected by the
brethren.

'Harry C. Wagner, History of Disciples of Christ in
Upper East Tennessee (Master’s Thesis, University of Ten-
nessee, 1943), pp. 45-46.

2Samuel H. Millard and T. J. Wright, Biographical
Sketch of John Wright, as quoted in Harry C. Wagner, His-_
tory of Disciples of Christ in Upper East Tennessee (Mas-
ter’'s Thesis, University of Tennessee, 1943), pp. 45-56.

3Minutes of the Holston Baptist Association, as quot-
ed in Harry C. Wagner, History of Disciples of Christ in
Upper East Tennessee (Master’s Thesis, University of Ten-
nessee, 1943), p. 49.

4Sinking Creek Baptist Church Records, p. 94, as quot-
ed in Harry C. Wagner, History of Disciples of Christ in
Upper East Tennessee (Master’'s Thesis, University of
Tennessee, 1943), p. 49.

5J. J. Burnett, Sketches of Tennessee’s Pioneer Baptist
Preachers, p. 537, as quoted in Harry C. Wagner, History of
Disciples of Christ in Upper East Tennessee (Master’s
Thesis, University of Tennessee, 1943), p. 50.
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6bid., p. 46.

’Beaver Creek Church of Christ church records, as
quoted in Harry C. Wagner, History of Disciples of Christ in

Upper East Tennessee (Master’s Thesis, University of Ten-
nessee, 1943), p. b1.

8 Alexander Campbell, editor, Millennial Harbinger,
New Series, Vol. 5, December 1841, p. 590.

®Wagner, History East Tennessee, p. 53.
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SPRING CREEK CHURCH OF CHRIST
RICEVILLE (McMINN COUNTY), TENNESSEE

One of the oldest congregations in East Tennessee is
the Spring Creek Church near Riceville. The exact date of
its founding is unknown but by 1830, the congregation was
well established with a meeting house on the farm of Mr.
John Roberts. On June 9, 1830, Roberts deeded the land
on which the building stood to the congregation. The
trustees who held the property for the church were Wesley
Spearman and Robert Mansell.

Among the earliest members, in addition to the
trustees, were John, Edmond and Thomas M. Roberts who
had come from South Carolina; William McNabb, and James
Billingsly. Thomas, John and Wesley Spearman were also
immigrants from South Carolina. Robert Randolph and
Isaac Rice had moved down from the Post Oak Springs
church near present-day Rockwood. Riceville received its
name from lIsaac Rice. There were the Mee, the White, the
Erickson, and Stone families in the early group. Thomas
Miller moved to the community in 1825 from Monroe
County, Kentucky. He had worshipped with John Mulkey
in the Mill Creek Christian Church near Tompkinsville.

William McNabb, Robert Mansell and James Billingsly
were early elders of the church. In those days most elders
did a lot of preaching. Robert Randolph was one of the
first preachers at Spring Creek. He had been ordained to

51



preach in 1822 while living in Virginia.

William and Rees Jones moved to the community
around 1826 and were won to the faith. l|saac Newton
Jones, who in 1897 wrote an unpublished History of the
Reformation in Tennessee, tells us, “In about 1826 my
father and Uncle William Jones moved to McMinn County
and located a wool-carding machine on Spring Creek. Here
they heard of a man, (named Daniel Travis) perhaps from
Kentucky, preaching a strange doctrine in a county east
of McMinn. My father, being the principal carder, request-
ed Uncle William to go and learn what the new doctrine
was. On his return, he showed how the man had used Acts
2:38 to prove that baptism is for the remission of past sins.
The reasoning was so clear that they at once began teaching
it to their neighbors.” (A4 Sketch of the Reformation in
Tennessee by J. W. Grant, p. 33). On August 16, 1833 both
were ordained to preach by Robert Randolph and lsaac
Mulkey. The older preachers laid hands on them in the
special service.

Preachers in those days were not afforded the respect
and consideration of later generations. |. N. Jones tells of
a note hung on a tree at the forks of a road near Spring
Creek. It read: ““Twenty dollars reward to any man or set
of men that will whip Old John Mulkey and Rees Jones."
Jones recalled seeing his mother wiping tears from her eyes
and asking worriedly, “Will your Pa ever get home alive?’’
His father was Rees Jones, one of the preaching brethren.

By 1833 the congregation had grown to some 60
members. In addition to conducting the Lord’s business at
home, the elders and preachers of the church carried on an
active evangelistic outreach, preaching in adjoining com-
munities.
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Among the men preaching in the area of Spring Creek
in those early years were Isaac Mulkey, William Slaughter,
Jacob Johnson, William Brown, and Dub Ruble (Grant,
p. 35). Isaac Mulkey was one of the most capable preachers
in the ranks of the East Tennessee churches. He was a
Powerful proclaimer of the Word. When he joined the
Masonic Lodge, it created an uproar among the brethren
and the Spring Creek Church charged him with misconduct.
A disciplinary trial was conducted by the church and he was
forced to leave the area. He went on to become a famous
preacher in Kentucky and lllinois (Grant, pp. 36, 53).

In those early days the brethren in McMinn County
used the mourner’s bench at their services. Sinners were
urged to mourn and pray for a sign of God’s forgiveness.
I. N. Jones recalled seeing it argued out by his father and
other brethren (Grant, pp. 37-39).

He also remembered a controversy that arose when
traveling preachers came down from Kentucky. The custom
at Spring Creek was for the brother in charge of the Lord’s
Supper to kneel while blessing the emblems. The congre-
gation either sat or knelt. The Kentucky preachers said
they should stand. The congregation adopted the new
(standing) practice, but it grated on some of the members
to do so (Grant, p. 40).

Barton Stone, one of the early leaders of the Restor-
ation Movement, conducted a meeting for the congregation
prior to his death in 1844.

Sensing a need to expand their evangelistic efforts,
seven of the congregations in lower East Tennessee met to
form a cooperation to achieve that goal. At first the co-
operations were simply gatherings of Christians to discuss
their needs and to pool their efforts in evangelizing their
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part of the world. Participating congregations would send
representatives and then contribute toward the support of
the workers sent out.

On December 10, 1831, James E. Matthews of Bar-
tons, Alabama described an early cooperation meeting that
included preachers from southeastern Tennessee and north-
ern Alabama. John and Isaac Mulkey were present. Mat-
thews explains what transpired:

“In Conference, we despensed with the etiquette
usually observed. No bishop was called to the chair,
nor was any clergyman or lay-member chosen Presi-
dent. We entered no resolves upon our minute book.
Nor did we take the name of an ‘Advisory Council’,
but ‘with one accord, in one place’ we <ns1:XMLFault xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat"><ns1:faultstring xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat">java.lang.OutOfMemoryError: Java heap space</ns1:faultstring></ns1:XMLFault>